1948

Silver King Coalition Mines Company and Continental Casualty Company v. Industrial Commission of Utah and Dora R. Draper : Brief of Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

IN THE
SUPREME COURT
OF THE
STATE OF UTAH

SILVER KING COALITION MINES
COMPANY, a corporation, and CON-
TINENTAL CASUALTY COMPANY,
a corporation,

Plaintiffs,

vs.

INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION OF UTAH
and DORA R. DRAPER, widow of Jesse
R. Draper, deceased,

Defendants.

Case No.

7172

PLAINTIFFS' BRIEF

This case and case No. 7171 involving the same plain-
tiffs against the Industrial Commission and Susan J.
Mitchell, mother of Lester A. Mitchell, deceased, in many
respects are similar, and the court will find it helpful to
consider the cases together. By considering the cases
together this court will have a clearer idea of the un-
fairness and arbitrariness of the Industrial Commission,
apparent in either case but extremely manifest when
both cases are considered together.

Each case is here on Certiorari from the Industrial Commission to review an award of the Commission granting compensation on account of death claimed from an occupational disease, to-wit: silicosis. While the facts and the applicable law are in many respects similar, we have felt that it would be more helpful to the court to consider each case in a brief devoted to that case rather than to attempt to consolidate the two cases in one brief.

STATEMENT OF FACTS -

Jesse R. Draper was an employee of the Silver King Coalition Mines Company in its mine at Park City, Utah. The Continental Casualty Company carries the Workmen's Compensation Insurance for the mining company. Mr. Draper discontinued his work with the Silver King March 31, 1947, and he died April 8, 1947, or approximately one week after he discontinued work. (R. 32) Although his widow testified that he was sick and losing weight and acutely ill for at least two years before he died and suffered from shortness of breath ever since 1940, (R. 63), no report was ever made to the company or the insurance carrier, and they did not even know he was sick or anything about his death until after he was buried. The first knowledge we had concerning Mr. Draper was from a letter, Exhibit 3, from the Industrial Commission (R. 102) advising that a claim had been made for death alleged to be due to an occupational disease. (R. 90, 91) As soon as we learned of this claim we immediately contacted Mr. Draper's physician, Dr. Nielsen, also Dr. Kerby, and the Tuber-

culosis Sanitorium in Ogden to try to find out what was wrong with Mr. Draper. At that time he had been dead and buried for more than a month. We then went personally to see Mrs. Draper, the widow, at Midway, Utah, and advised her on May 27, 1947, that we were unable to determine the cause of Mr. Draper's death and that the only way it could be determined was by means of an autopsy, that autopsy would absolutely establish the cause of his death, and that if he died as a result of a compensable disease we would begin payments at once. She refused to consent to an autopsy. (R. 92) We then attempted to get more information and the more we investigated the more questionable the case seemed, so we wrote a letter to her again requesting an autopsy. No reply was received to that letter and written request for an autopsy was then made to the Industrial Commission by letter dated June 3, 1947. (R. 93, Exhibit 4, R. 103) The Industrial Commission then had Mrs. Draper come down to Salt Lake where the commissioner advised her that she had the burden of proving that there was silicosis, but that "in deference to her wishes" "as it stands, I will not order an autopsy." (R. 93, 94) And on June 24, 1947, after we had exhausted all efforts and failed to secure definite evidence the Commission wrote us that in deference to the wishes of Mrs. Draper the petition for an autopsy would be denied. (R. 94, Exhibit 5, R. 104) In the Commission's letter the Commission said: "In view of information which seems to be available in connection with the death of Mr. Draper, a petition for an autopsy

is therefore denied at this time." The Commission did not point out what information or evidence was available, and actually there was no information or evidence available and none was produced at the hearing definitely establishing that Mr. Draper's death was due to silicosis.

At the beginning of the hearing the plaintiffs objected to proceeding with the hearing upon the ground that the applicant had refused permission to have an autopsy performed on the deceased for the purpose of determining the cause of death; that the application was timely made for the autopsy, which objection was overruled by the Commission. (R. 33) Both the Commission and Mrs. Draper were advised that competent pathologists were positive that an autopsy could be successfully performed even as late as six or eight months after death in a case of this kind. The pathologist was contacted within a month after Mr. Draper died, and he stated that the autopsy would accurately disclose the presence or absence of silicosis and the part, if any, that it played in the death of the deceased. (R. 95, 96)

Two hearings were held. The record of the first hearing is covered by the record pages 30 to 100 inclusive, together with the exhibits 1 to 5 inclusive, which are attached to the record as pages 101 to 104 inclusive excluding two x-ray pictures known as Exhibit 2 (a) and (b) which are here separately.

Four doctors testified at the first hearing, Dr. Harold I. Goodwin, Dr. James P. Kerby, Dr. Karl O. Nielsen and Dr. Paul S. Richards. At the conclusion of

the hearing and in due time the Commission announced its decision, (R. 13, 14), awarding compensation to the widow. Application for rehearing, (R. 15), was made upon the ground that there was no competent evidence to sustain the Commission and that the Commission had accepted hearsay and incompetent evidence and expert evidence from individuals who themselves denied their qualifications as experts, as against the positive testimony of the only qualified expert who testified, Dr. Paul S. Richards. The Commission agreed with the application for rehearing, (R. 24), in this language: "It appearing to the Commission that the request is just and reasonable; Now, therefore, it is ordered that the application for rehearing be granted, and that the cause be sent to the calendar for setting." The Commission itself recognized that the testimony at the first hearing was insufficient to support the award and granted a rehearing. A rehearing was held March 2, 1948, and on March 11 the Commission again awarded compensation. (R. 28) The record of the evidence in the second hearing is found in the record at pages 111 to 144 inclusive. The applicant produced no evidence at the second hearing that in any wise supplied the lack of evidence in the first hearing. On the contrary her evidence at the rehearing made her case even less tenable than it had been theretofore. At the second hearing Dr. Paul S. Richards testified again and illustrated his testimony by several x-ray pictures which are now before this court as Exhibits 6 to 9 inclusive.

A brief summary of the testimony of the two hearings follows:

When this court examines the testimony of the first hearing, it will find underscored on pages 36, 43, 51 and 70 the following: "It disclosed a pneumothorax and nodulation, silicosis, and tuberculosis—pneumoconiosis or tuberculosis." (R. 36, Dr. Goodwin.) "from silicosis and tuberculosis of the lungs?" (R. 43, Dr. Kerby.) "It was my impression that he had tuberculosis superimposed on silicosis." (R. 51, Dr. Nielsen). "fibroid tuberculosis." (R. 70, Dr. Richards). This underscoring appears to be the work of the Commissioner.

Upon receiving the first decision wherein the Commission states "that the preponderance of the evidence indicates that the deceased had silicosis and superimposed tuberculosis at time of death as a result of that employment," we became curious as to how the Commission could arrive at such a decision from the evidence. In an effort to determine the Commission's reasoning we examined the record and found the underscored quotations heretofore set forth and particularly noticed the one from Dr. Nielsen. Obviously the Commission had searched the record and seized upon every isolated phrase to be found therein for the purpose of making such a finding and had disregarded all the other evidence in the case. In the petition for rehearing we called these matters specifically to the attention of the Commission and pointed out that they were completely inadequate to justify any such finding and that the preponderance

of the evidence was directly against such a finding. The Commission agreed with us as heretofore pointed out, and ordered a rehearing upon the grounds that our request was "just and reasonable." The Commission itself recognized the lack of evidence in the record to support such finding. In the petition for rehearing we also called the attention of the Commission to the fact that found in the files was a letter from the Utah State Tuberculosis Sanitorium dated April 8, 1947, and addressed to Dr. Karl Nielsen, the deceased's physician; that this letter had not been offered in evidence, was incompetent, was not a part of the record, and should not be considered. That letter does not appear now in the files certified to this court, but another letter of the same date and from the same source appears at page 12 of the file certified here, that letter being addressed to the Industrial Commission and covering the same subject matter. Why that letter is certified does not appear because it is not a part of the record in this case. However, the letter does show that the X-rays taken by the Utah Tuberculosis Sanitorium did not disclose a characteristic X-ray pattern and also shows that the views of the writer are only impressions and are not supported by anything conclusive. In fact, the letter demonstrates that even the experts at the Ogden Sanitorium could come to no conclusion either as to tuberculosis or silicosis from whatever examination they made of the deceased. We do not know what part this letter played in the decision of the Commission, and we are mentioning it only because the Commission has included it in

the file transmitted to this court. That it is the habit of the Commission to go outside of the record to make determinations in these cases appears from the record itself on page 86 wherein the Commissioner blandly stated that in another case they had taken the X-rays introduced in evidence and had them examined by the Ogden Sanatorium and apparently adopted the incompetent opinion thus secured in making finding in another case. We shall refer to this statement of the Commissioner later in this brief.

With this background a consideration of the actual evidence is interesting. Dr. H. I. Goodwin testified that he examined and treated the deceased for pneumothorax in November, 1940, and that at that time he sent him to Dr. Kerby for an X-ray checkup, but that he has no record whatever of the deceased. (R. 36) At the hearing he was then shown an X-ray report which appears as Exhibit 1 (R. 101) in the record and stated that that was the report of Dr. Kerby's X-ray examination. The report is dated 12/20/40. Dr. Goodwin testified that he saw the deceased only the one time. (Certain medical phrases appear in the testimony—dyspnea, which means shortness of breath; emphysema, which means an enlarged chest, and nodulation, which means small round points of scar tissue always present and essential in a characteristic X-ray pattern if silicosis is present). Concerning his knowledge of the deceased Dr. Goodwin was asked.

Q. And then you sent him to Dr. Kerby's office for further examination?

A. Yes.

Q. And as a result of that examination it disclosed that he had silicosis and tuberculosis?

A. According to the X-ray findings that is what I am basing my opinion on. (R. 37)

* * * *

Q. Did you see him only one time?

A. That is all I recall of seeing him. (R. 37)

He then testified that he had never seen the X-ray pictures and that his entire testimony is based on Dr. Kerby's report, that he has no personal knowledge of the deceased's condition except the pneumothorax. (R. 38)

Q. Could you tell from your record whether he had silicosis or tuberculosis?

A. According to that report?

Q. No, I mean from your own knowledge.

A. No.

Q. You don't know whether he had either?

A. I didn't know whether he had either until I got the report.

Q. You don't know now from your examination?

A. *I don't know now, and I never did know.* (R. 38) (Italics added)

The doctor later upon leading questions from both counsel for the applicant and after prodding by the Commissioner became somewhat vague, but he did say again

on direct examination: "To say that all his physical condition was due to tuberculosis and silicosis would be just guesswork." (R. 39, 40) That his disability in 1940 was not caused by silicosis or tuberculosis but by a spontaneous pneumothorax, a condition that permits air to get out of the lungs in the pleural cavity and collapses the lung. (R. 40) In answer to applicant's counsel the following appears:

Q. * * * I will ask you, doctor, the immediate cause that brought the patient into the hospital was a pneumothorax?

A. Yes.

Q. It was not silicosis and it was not tuberculosis?

A. That is right. (R. 41)

Dr. Goodwin was quite positive that the disability in 1940 was not due to silicosis or tuberculosis even though the Commissioner by leading questions endeavored to have the doctor connect up the condition in 1940 with silicosis and tuberculosis. All of the doctor's testimony must be considered in view of his frank admission that he does not know anything about the man, as to silicosis and tuberculosis: "I don't know now, and I never did know." (R. 38) And it is also undisputed in the record that in 1946 when Mr. Peterson of the Continental Casualty Company contacted him Dr. Goodwin told Mr. Peterson that he couldn't remember the deceased at all. (R. 94) The underscored portion of Dr. Goodwin's testimony on page 36 of the record is clearly incompetent and

valueless. It is based entirely upon his opinion of what Dr. Kerby's report shows. The report itself discloses no such thing. Dr. Goodwin's testimony only pretends to relate to a condition that was supposed to exist in 1940, and he frankly admits that he personally knows nothing about the man except that in 1940 he had a pneumothorax from which he recovered.

Dr. Kerby was the next witness. Although his report appears in evidence as Exhibit 1, even that is not the original report. It appears on the letterhead of Drs. Kerby & Wilson, and Dr. Wilson was not associated with Dr. Kerby in 1940. (R. 46) When the Exhibit 1 was made, does not appear. Dr. Kerby never did see the deceased. (R. 42, 43) So far as the doctor recalls the X-ray was taken by some one in his office, and Exhibit 1 is a copy of the report made to him. He says that he saw the film, but has no recollection of the film at all other than from the report, Exhibit 1; that there is no way that this report can be checked with the picture because the X-rays have been lost. (R. 43, 44) In replying to a leading question Dr. Kerby made the underscored statement that in 1940, it was his opinion that the deceased was suffering "from silicosis and tuberculosis of the lungs." (R. 43) But he only can make that statement now because of the report, Exhibit 1. He did not take any sputum tests. (R. 44, 45) He could not say that the man had active pulmonary tuberculosis. He did not know what degree of silicosis the films disclosed. He did not know whether the silicosis he thought was present

was disabling, (R. 45); does not remember the man or the film, and all he remembers now is what is in this report which was made seven years ago, and there is no way now that it can be checked. (R. 46) Counsel for the applicant attempted to have Dr. Kerby testify about heart disease. Dr. Kerby frankly stated, "I am not a heart specialist." (R. 48)

Exhibit 1, which is the only basis we have for the testimony of Dr. Goodwin and Dr. Kerby, shows that the heart is normal, the diaphragm is normal; that there is no fluid in either pleurae; that the lung fields show an extensive area corresponding to more than half of the upper lobe field of the right lung where there is radiolusence. (Radiolusence simply means that the lung lets the light go through more readily because there is less density of tissue and more air in the lungs in that area.) The report then says that the X-ray shows a fine linear strand extends from the apex to the collapsed lung. (A linear strand is merely tissue that casts a shadow in the form of a line.) The report says "there is a generalized mottling of both lungs, fairly symmetrical. In addition dense areas are seen in each apex. These probably represent tuberculous changes." The report does not have one single word to describe silicosis or anything characteristic of silicosis. It doesn't even mention nodulation. The generalized mottling mentioned in the report represents, according to the report itself, tuberculous changes. Mottling is nothing at all like nodulation, and the pneumothorax (air in chest cavity) is

not confined to the lungs and is not silicosis. The only thing in the report to indicate anything at all with reference to silicosis is the single word "silicosis" at the bottom of the report. There is not one word in the report itself that described anything resembling silicosis.

Both Dr. Kerby and Dr. Goodwin were describing a condition supposed to exist in 1940 where the primary evidence is non-existent. And the secondary evidence from which they assume to testify in no wise supports their evidence. Silicosis has a definite and also a statutory definition which we shall discuss later. There is not one word of competent testimony from either Dr. Goodwin or Dr. Kerby to show that even in 1940 the deceased had silicosis. And certainly there is not even a suggestion in their testimony to support a finding that in 1947 he died as a result of "silicosis and superimposed tuberculosis." As a matter of fact there is nothing at all in the record to show that silicosis caused his death.

Dr. Nielsen next testified. He is the doctor who signed the death certificate and attended the deceased in his last illness. The death certificate was never introduced in evidence although it was frequently referred to and actually appears at page 6 in the record certified to this court.

Dr. Nielsen gave the cause of death as acute myocarditis, that is acute heart disease. (R. 53) How acute heart disease can be due to pulmonary silicosis was not disclosed by any of the witnesses. Silicosis is a chronic,

progressive disease. It does not cause acute myocarditis or a sudden heart attack. Other discrepancies in Dr. Nielsen's testimony will appear as we proceed.

He states that the deceased became a patient of his eight or nine years ago and that he had a tendency to have a barrel type of chest and an emphysematous type of chest, and he had marked limitations of respiratory motions, that is he had air sacs all during that period causing him to be barrel chested and short of breath. His shortness of breath, or dyspnea, increased markedly within the last two or three years. There was relatively little change in his dyspnea, or shortness of breath for four or five years. (R. 49, 50) He then stated the underscored testimony that in the last two years, "It was my impression that he had tuberculosis superimposed on silicosis." (R. 51) But when asked what caused the tuberculosis and the shortness of breath he answered, "That is quite a question."

Q. Whatever foreign substance created the silicotic nodules in the lungs or any other irritation whatsoever furnished a fertile ground for tubercular attack?

A. They would not necessarily have to have silicosis. (R. 51)

He then states that his conclusion as to the death was as follows: "My conclusion was that the man had an acute heart failure." (R. 52) On cross-examination the doctor admitted that as late as June, 1947, and after the death of the man he told Mr. Peterson of the Con-

tinental Casualty Company that his diagnosis of the deceased was "questionable tuberculosis;" that he signed the death certificate that way and that his position now is the same as it was at that time. (R. 53) He also stated that he is not equipped to do sputum examinations and that all he had to back up his opinion as to any tuberculosis was a clinical examination. (R. 53) He then later stated that although he had made no sputum tests and signed the death certificate "questionable tuberculosis", he at that time was of the opinion that it was tuberculosis and he put questionable on the death certificate and stated it was questionable to Mr. Peterson because he couldn't prove it. (R. 54)

Dr. Nielson took no X-rays himself, (R. 54), but he did see some X-rays which are now in evidence as Exhibits 2 (a) and (b). (These X-rays become more important in view of the testimony of Dr. Kerby at the second hearing to which attention will be directed later in this brief.) Dr. Nielsen frankly stated that he was not an expert in diagnosing X-rays. He pointed to some little spots on the pictures as being silicotic nodules. He was not sure. He said: "My impression is that these are silicotic nodules." (R. 55) He could not state whether what he called silicosis represented first, second or third degree. "I don't think I am qualified on that." (R. 55) He did not see any evidence in these pictures of tuberculosis. The pictures gave him no assistance whatever in determining whether the deceased had tuberculosis. (R. 57) Upon further questioning the doctor

finally admitted that the death certificate he signed was untrue and that he did not regard himself as an expert on tuberculosis or as an X-ray specialist. (R. 59, 60) The pictures that Dr. Nielsen was testifying to were taken at the Ogden Sanatorium shortly before the death of Mr. Draper.

The deceased's wife stated that he had been suffering from shortness of breath since 1940 and that for more than two years prior to his death he was very sick and going down all the time. (R. 63) (Never at any time during this period, however, did the deceased or his wife make any claim upon the plaintiffs. Whether it was because they believed they had no claim or whether it was upon advice to her not to submit a claim until it was too late for the plaintiffs to make any examination, which advice was given as appears from the record in the companion case No. 7171 now pending in this court, or for what reason, does not appear. The fact does appear, however, that no claim of any kind was made to the plaintiffs with reference to Mr. Draper until after he was dead and buried, and it was impossible to secure an autopsy without the consent of his widow. This consent was refused, and the Industrial Commission upheld the widow in her successful effort to suppress this evidence.)

Dr. Paul S. Richards was the only witness at the first hearing whose testimony had probative or substantial value. As to his qualifications, we need only refer to the voluntary statement of applicant's counsel

at the second hearing. On pages 131, 132 Mr. Beck had the following to say with reference to Dr. Richards:

Q. Now doctor, so that there won't be any misunderstanding about your qualification, I think I would agree that at least in the Western States there has not been anyone in the Medical Profession who has directly had as much practical experience with silicosis in this area as you have, and I will further admit that you are a medical expert of great and unusual talent; but isn't there a very much unsettled theory about the effects of silicosis, just what silicosis is, and just the tracks it runs throughout the woof and warp, even at Seranac?

A. Yes, there is a lot of controversy.

At this point the next question and answer may be pertinent:

Q. Isn't there a great deal of silicosis contracted by persons who are susceptible of silicosis wherein the evidence is not even nodulation and yet they have silicosis?

A. I have never seen that. I have heard of it—I have heard of that very type of thing that you bring up, but I have never contacted it, neither have I been able to get confirmatory opinion out of men who have contacted silicosis exposure to bring out a positive view on the point you bring up. (R. 132)

Dr. Richards after testifying to his long experience with silicosis and the taking of X-rays and interpreting them and diagnosing from them, examined the X-rays, Ex-

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