1948

# Silver King Coalition Mines Company and Continental Casualty Company v. Industrial Commission of Utah and Dora R. Draper : Brief of Defendants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The Defendants feel that the Plaintiffs' Statement of Facts contained in their Brief on file herein sufficiently presents the basic facts of this case necessary to an understanding of the issues involved. The Defendants, therefore, have no additional statements of fact to make at this time. Defendants do, however, feel that

the facts already before the Court do need some amplification and further interpretation, but in order to avoid duplications said facts will be referred to in the Defendants' argument.

## QUESTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

### QUESTION No. 1

Was the Industrial Commission's decision supported by the evidence or did the commission exceed its powers by arbitrarily and capriciously disregarding uncontradicted evidence?

### QUESTION No. II

Did the commission abuse its discretion in refusing an autopsy in this case?

### QUESTION No. III

Was the award in conformance with the occupational disease law of the State of Utah?

## ARGUMENTS

WAS THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION'S DECISION SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE OR DID THE COMMISSION EXCEED ITS POWERS BY ARBITRARILY AND CAPRICIOUSLY DISREGARDING UNCONTRADICTED EVIDENCE?

The Defendants hardly feel it necessary to point out to this Court with any high degree of elaboration the numerous rulings which this honorable body and the Supreme Courts of all other states have handed down

relative to the respective duties of the Industrial Commission and the Supreme Courts in relation to those cases which are decided by industrial commissions. The Defendants desire, therefore, only to briefly and summarily refer to the law of this state on that issue. Our Supreme Court is limited to a determination of whether or not said commission has exceeded its powers in relation to the facts or has disregarded some provision of law in the making or denying of an award, or whether or not the commission in the decision in question has arbitrarily or capriciously disregarded uncontradicted evidence.

(See Utah Consolidated Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission, 66 Utah 173, 240 Pac. 440 and Kelly vs. Industrial Commission, 80 Utah 73, 12 Pac. (2d) 1112).

If the commission's findings are supported by the evidence and if any inference may be reasonably drawn from the evidence presented to support said findings, our Supreme Court has no authority to upset the Industrial Commission's decision.

(See Park Utah Consolidated Mines vs. Industrial Commission, 84 Utah 481, 36 Pac. (2d) 979; Russell vs. Industrial Commission, 86 Utah 306, 43 Pac. (2d) 1069; Woodburn vs. Industrial Commission, ..... Utah ....., 181 Pac. (2d) 209).

The Supreme Court does not weigh conflicting evidence nor determine which witnesses are to be believed nor can it in any substitute its own judgment for that of the commission.

(See Parker vs. Industrial Commission, 78 Utah 509, 5 Pac. (2d) 573; Bain vs. Industrial Commission, 58 Utah 370, 199 Pac. 666; Ostler vs. Industrial Commission, 84 Utah 428, 36 Pac. (2d) 95; Tintic Standard Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission, 100 Utah 96, 110 Pac. (2d) 367; Norris vs. Industrial Commission, 90 Utah 256, 61 Pac. (2d) 413).

The Industrial Commission is the final arbiter of the facts and conflicts in the testimony and has the right to weigh the testimony of the various witnesses and to test their credibility.

(See Milkovich vs. Industrial Commission, 91 Utah 498, 64 Pac. (2d) 1290; Chief Consolidated Mining Company vs. Industrial Commission, 70 Utah 333, 260 Pac. 271; Norris vs. Industrial Commission supra; Kent vs. Industrial Commission, 89 Utah 381, 57 Pac. (2d) 724; Sugar vs. Industrial Commission, 94 Utah 56, 75 Pac. (2d) 3117).

Innumerable other cases could be referred to to support the rules given above relative to the respective duties of the Supreme Court and the Industrial Commission, but to cite further cases would be merely cumulative rather than informative.

The Defendants submit that the testimony taken in this case at the hearing before the Industrial Commission contains considerable evidence supporting the decision of the commission to the effect that the deceased contracted silicosis, an occupational disease arising out of and in the course of his employment, and as a result of his exposure to silicon dioxide dust while employed

by the Silver King Coalition Mines at Park City, Utah, which silicosis, an occupational disease, caused the death of said Lester A. Mitchell, deceased.

Silicosis, under Utah law, is defined in Section 42-1a-29 U.C.A., 1943 as follows:

“For the purpose of this act ‘silicosis’ is defined as a chronic disease of the lungs caused by the prolonged inhalation of silicon dioxide dust ( $\text{SiO}_2$ ) characterized by small discrete nodules of fibrous tissue similarly disseminated throughout both lungs, causing a characteristic X-ray pattern, and by variable clinical manifestations.”

Dr. Harold I. Goodwin was a practicing physician in Park City, Utah for many years. He is now practicing in Salt Lake City, Utah. He examined the deceased, Jesse R. Draper at Park City for the first time in November or December, 1940. He made a personal examination and took an X-ray picture on December 20, 1940 and diagnosed his trouble as “pneumothorax and nodulation, silicosis, and tuberculosis—pneumoconiosis or tuberculosis,” or as the doctor more briefly states he found that the deceased was suffering from silicosis and tuberculosis, which resulted in his being hospitalized at that time. The deceased was ordered to rest for several weeks but he refused to stay in the hospital and insisted on going home. (Tr. 36 and 37). The X-ray taken by Dr. Goodwin was sent to Dr. James P. Kerby of Salt Lake City for examination. Dr. Kerby submitted a report of his findings to Dr. Goodwin, which findings were to the effect that the deceased had silicosis and tuberculosis. Dr. Goodwin bases his diagnosis on the symp-

toms he personally observed and Dr. Kerby's report. (Tr. 40, 41 and 42).

Dr. James P. Kerby, an X-ray specialist from Salt Lake City, Utah, was next called as a witness. He advised that he had examined an X-ray of the chest of the deceased and had made a report thereon to Dr. Goodwin. From his examination of the X-ray he concluded that the deceased was suffering from silicosis and tuberculosis of the lungs and that both lungs were affected. Dr. Kerby re-emphasized throughout his testimony the fact that the deceased had silicosis complicated by tuberculosis and affirmed his convictions several times. (Tr. 43, 44 and 45). Dr. Kerby also testified that even though there are two schools of thought as already indicated relative to the effect of silicosis on the heart, that it is a very good considered opinion that silicosis does produce a "secondary heart pathology" and that Dr. Kerby was one of those who believes from observation that the heart can be affected by silicosis. (Tr. 48). A re-hearing was granted in this case before the Industrial Commission. At this re-hearing certain X-ray pictures were introduced which had been taken of the deceased at the Tuberculosis Sanitarium at Ogden on the 4th day of April, 1947. In the meantime Dr. Kerby had seen these X-rays, had studied them and was of the opinion that the deceased also at the time those pictures were taken was suffering from silicosis and tuberculosis. The Doctor was also convinced that the tuberculosis at the time of the pictures predominated and that the deceased died primarily from tuberculosis. (Tr. 115, 116, 117, 120 and

122). Dr. Kerby again reiterated his convictions that silicosis can cause heart trouble. (Tr. 121). Certain references were made in the testimony to a report of Dr. Lindberg on the X-ray of the chest of the deceased, which Doctor is located at the Ogden Tuberculosis Sanitarium. Dr. Lindberg apparently indicated a finding of silicosis. Dr. Kerby emphasizes that he felt that Dr. Lindberg's report was correct and that his findings were otherwise compatible with his conclusion that the deceased had both tuberculosis and silicosis. (Tr. 124).

Dr. Karl O. Nielsen has been practicing medicine and surgery in Heber City, Utah for over eleven years. He had known and had treated the deceased for about eight or nine years. Dr. Nielsen gave him physical examinations and had on several occasions examined the deceased's chest especially in relation to his lungs. He had found shortness of breath, pain in the chest, with marked limitation of respiratory motions. During the said eight or nine years this condition of course started in a minor stage and became more pronounced in the latter years. During the last two years Dr. Nielsen was treating the deceased, this condition was very pronounced and had resulted in a case of tuberculosis superimposed by silicosis. (Tr. 49 to 52). Dr. Nielsen also found a condition of heart trouble with the deceased. In spite of severe cross examination, Dr. Nielsen showed a definite conviction that the deceased was suffering from tuberculosis and silicosis at and just prior to his death. Dr. Nielsen made out the death certificate for the deceased and indicated a questionable conviction as

to tuberculosis. He explained that this was done for statistical reasons because he had not been able to make a sputum test, which apparently is the final and positive test of tuberculosis, but Dr. Nielsen still insisted that for his personal conviction he needed no sputum test and was positive the deceased had tuberculosis. (Tr. 53 to 59). Because of these convictions the deceased had been urged by Dr. Nielsen to go to the Tuberculosis Sanitarium at Ogden, to which sanitarium the deceased did finally go just before he died. In the latter part of his testimony Dr. Nielsen emphasized that the silicosis had been with the deceased for some time; that tuberculosis had developed only during the last two years before his death and that the silicosis condition had been scattered throughout both lungs. (Tr. 58 and 60).

It might be pointed out that the deceased had been with the Silver King Coalition Mines continuously for sixteen years prior to his death and that all of those sixteen years were spent in underground work. (Tr. 62, 64, 65).

Dr. Paul S. Richards, a practicing physician from Bingham Canyon, Utah also testified on behalf of the mining company and the insurance company. The X-ray pictures taken of the deceased had been sent to Dr. Richards. Dr. Richards was inclined to think that the deceased had not been suffering from silicosis. He had not seen the deceased personally but based all opinions on his observations of the X-rays. (Tr. 69 and 70). After much discussion of silicosis generally and its various ramifications, Dr. Richards wound up his testimony by

saying that he was not positive as to whether or not the deceased was suffering from silicosis. (Tr. 83). Also that even though he had been unable to see silicosis through the medium of the X-rays it was still possible that the deceased could have been suffering from silicosis. (Tr. 86).

### DID THE COMMISSION ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN REFUSING AN AUTOPSY IN THIS CASE?

Our State law does provide for the ordering of an autopsy in those cases where "in the opinion of the commission it is necessary to accurately and scientifically ascertain the cause of death." (42-1a-47, U.C.A., 1943). It is conceded that the commission refused to order the autopsy in this case partly out of deference to the wishes of the deceased's family but primarily because at no time did it appear to the commission that the cause of death could not be otherwise determined. The facts which must be depended upon by the commission to rule on the cause of death are so closely related to this particular issue that the Defendants feel that a decision on that question would more or less automatically decide the issue in this particular problem. In other words, if the commission properly acted within its powers in deciding that silicosis was the cause of death, then a decision that no autopsy was necessary would also be proper because we must then say that a decision as to the cause of death needed no autopsy. We submit that the granting or the failure to grant an order for an autopsy is purely discretionary with the commission and whether the right

to such an autopsy was properly or improperly denied in this case will be automatically determined in the issue of whether or not there was sufficient evidence to support the decision and the award of the commission.

The Plaintiff objects further to the manner in which the decision was worded. The Plaintiff apparently fears that in case of death or re-marriage, the award remains as is regardless of any other contingency that might happen. Defendants desire to submit that this manner of making awards has been going on for some time; that as yet no trouble has arisen and that a study of Section 42-1a-33 should reveal that the statute protects the Plaintiff against any of these contingencies arising. This section provides that immediately upon these contingencies arising, the beneficiary shall be entitled to receive one-third of the benefits remaining unpaid. Defendants fail to see where any particular wording or failure to insert some particular wording would cancel the effect of this statute.

### CONCLUSION

In conclusion it is submitted that the decision of the commission awarding compensation to the wife of the deceased should be affirmed for the reasons herein stated.